IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2004-KA-01204-COA

DARYL HAWKINS

APPELLANT

V.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NOV 28 2007

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPPLEME COURT OF APPEALS

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MISSISSIPPI OFFICE OF INDIGENT APPEALS George T. Holmes, MSB No. 301 N. Lamar St., Ste 210 Jackson MS 39201 601 576-4200

Counsel for Appellant

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2004-KA-01204-COA

DARYL HAWKINS

APPELLANT

V.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

ISSUE NO. 1: WHETHER THE INDICTMENT IS VOID FOR FAILURE TO

STATE A NECESSARY ELEMENT OF THE OFFENSE?

ISSUE NO. 2: WHETHER HAWKINS WAS ENTITLED TO AN

ABANDONMENT JURY INSTRUCTION?

ISSUE NO. 3: WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT SHOULD HAVE GRANTED

A DIRECTED VERDICT OR JNOV?

ISSUE NO. 4: IS HAWKIN'S SENTENCE OF LIFE WITHOUT PAROLE

UNCONSTITUTIONALLY DISPROPORTIONATE?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal proceeds from the Circuit Court of the Second Judicial District of Bolivar County, Mississippi where Daryl Hawkins was convicted of attempted auto burglary. A jury trial was conducted May10, 2004, with Honorable Albert Smith, III, Circuit Judge, presiding. Since Hawkins was an habitual offender under MCA §99-19-83 (1972), he was sentenced to life imprisonment without parole. Hawkins is presently incarcerated with the Mississippi Department of Corrections where he will be until he dies unless this Court requires otherwise.

FACTS

Around 3:00 a. m., on March 7, 2004, officer Robert Graham of the Cleveland MS Police Department was staked out by himself in plain clothes in

the parking lot of the Colony Apartments in Cleveland MS in an unmarked sport utility vehicle. [T. 12]. Graham, who was on "special detail", testified he watched a Nissan Altima with two passengers circle the parking lot and then stop. *Id.* Graham said he saw Daryl Hawkins, whom he recognized, exit the vehicle and walk towards another automobile [T. 13-14]. Graham said Hawkins looked inside several windows of parked vehicles, and then broke a window out of one of them. [T. 14-15]. Graham radioed for back-up, then a car burglar alarm sounded. *Id.* The person who broke the window got back into the Altima with the driver and they drove off. [T. 15-16].

Graham followed and continued to request back-up. [T. 16-17]. The Altima was eventually blocked in and its two occupants arrested. *Id.* Graham identified the driver as Brandon James and the passenger as Daryl Hawkins. *Id.*

Hawkins' co-defendant, Brandon James, testified that Hawkins paid him five dollars for a ride to the apartment complex on the date in question. [T. 42]. Brandon said he dropped Hawkins off in the parking lot and then Hawkins got back in the car acting "paranoid" and said, "[d]rive before somebody thinks we're trying to break into something" while a car alarm was going off. [T. 43]. As they were driving off, Brandon testified that Daryl said, "I broke the window out of the car, man, we're fixing to go to jail." [T. 46].

Hawkins testified that he never got out of James' car, but James got out and broke the car window. [T. 60-61].

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

For several reasons, the trial court should have granted a directed verdict. Alternatively, the court should have allowed an instruction on the defense of abandonment. The verdict was contrary to the weight of the evidence. The sentence of life imprisonment for breaking a car window is unconstitutionally disproportionate to the offense resulting in cruel and unusual punishment.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE NO. 1: WHETHER THE INDICTMENT IS VOID FOR FAILURE TO STATE A NECESSARY ELEMENT OF THE OFFENSE?

Whether an indictment is defective is a question of law, thus, the standard of review on appeal is *de novo*. *Peterson v. State*, 671 So.2d 647, 652 (Miss.1996), and *Brown v. State*, 961 So.2d 720, 724 (Miss. Ct. App.2007).

Under common law, "an attempt to commit a crime consists of three elements: (1) an intent to commit a particular crime; (2) a direct ineffectual act done toward its commission; and (3) the failure to consummate its commission." Henderson v. State, 660 So. 2d 220, 222 (Miss. 1995). The offense of attempt is

codified in Miss. Code Ann. §97-1-7 (1972).1

The indictment in this case purports to charge Hawkins with attempted burglary of an automobile. [R. 1]. However, since the third and, as will be shown, most important element of the offense that the defendant "failed or was prevented from completing the offense" was excluded, the indictment is void *ab initio* under Rule 7.06 of the Unif. Crim. R. Cir. Ct. Prac.

There was no trial court level objection here. Nevertheless, failure to object or demur to an indictment is no bar to the issue being raised on appeal. *Durr v. State*, 446 So.2d 1016, 1017 (Miss.1984).

In *Durr v. State, supra,* the indictment intended to charge the defendant with attempted burglary, but, did not contain any statutory language that the defendant "performed an overt act toward the commission of the offense charged." 446 So.2d at 1017. Durr did not demur to the indictment. *Id.*

First, the *Durr* court pointed out that failure to allege an essential element in an indictment is not waived on appeal for failure to object, and said '[w]e have held that indictments under Mississippi Code Annotated, § 97-1-7 (1972), the

MC A § 97-1-7 (1972) Every person who shall design and endeavor to commit an offense, and shall do any overt act toward the commission thereof, but shall fail therein, or shall be prevented from committing the same, on conviction thereof, shall, [unless provided otherwise be sentenced to 10 years if a capital offense is attempted, otherwise, no greater sentence than that authorized for the attempted offense].

general attempt statute, must set forth an overt act toward the commission of the offense." Citing, *Murray v. State*, 403 So.2d 149, 152 (Miss. 1981); and *Maxie v. State*, 330 So.2d 277 (Miss. 1976).

Durr is particularly controlling here because it is, like the case at bar, an attempted burglary case. The language from Durr is crystal clear that, "[b]ecause an essential ingredient of the offense is missing from the indictment, it failed to charge a crime and is void." 446 So.2d at 1017.

In *Hawthorne v. State*, 751 So.2d 1090, 1092-94 (Miss. Ct. App.1999),

Hawthorne was charged with attempted sexual battery, but the indictment failed to allege an overt act. The *Hawthorne* court reiterated the longstanding rule that "in order to be sufficient, [an] indictment must contain the essential elements of the crime with which the accused is charged."

It is fundamental ... that an indictment, to be effective as such, must set forth the constituent elements of a criminal offense; if the facts alleged do not constitute such an offense within the terms and meaning of the law or laws on which the accusation is based, or if the facts alleged may all be true and yet constitute no offense, the indictment is insufficient.... Every material fact and essential ingredient of the offense-every essential element of the offense-must be alleged with precision and certainty, or, as has been stated, every fact which is an element in a prima facie case of guilty must be stated in the indictment." [Citation omitted]

The *Hawthorne* court held that in a charge of an attempted crime under Miss. Code Ann. § 97-1-7 (1972) "an allegation of an overt act is 'mandatory."

[Citations omitted]. So, by law, an indictment, as the one here in Hawkins' case, which fails to contain an essential element is fatally defective for failing "to provide [a] concise and plain statement of the essential facts that would be alleged." The *Hawthorne* court ruled, "[c]onsequently, the indictment failed to charge Hawthorne with the crime for which he was convicted." Therefore, Daryl Hawkins was never charged with the crime for which he was convicted either.

It is fair to note that Hawkins' indictment does list Miss. Code. Ann. \$97-1-7 (1972) at the top, but that is not enough. There must be specifics stated as to the elements of the offense, particularly that the attempt to commit the intended crime was incomplete. In *Hersick v. State*, 904 So.2d 116, 126 (Miss.2004), the Supreme Court ruled that, even with a listing of the attempt statute at the top of an attempted kidnaping charge, there must nevertheless be found in an indictment a sufficient description of the overt act with details of the "thwarted attempt" to give legal notice to a defendant, under UCCR Rule 7.06. See also *Brown v. State*, 961 So.2d 720, 724-25 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007.)

The state cannot argue here that Hawkins had notice of the nature of the offense from some other source, such as discovery or jury instructions. In *White v. State*, 851 So.2d 400, 403-04 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003), the defendant was charged

with attempted accessory after the fact, but the indictment was defective for failing to include the overt act element. In reversing the conviction, the *White* court said in no uncertain terms,

the State may not avoid the requirement by showing that the defendant had actual notice from some other source of the specific nature of the State's allegations. [Citing *Hawthorne*, *supra*, 751 So.2d at 1095]. There is no acceptable substitute or cure in the law for an indictment that omits the essential charging information. 851 So. 2d. at 403.

Hawkins here merely asks for application of the clear principles set out above. These well established rules require reversal in this case.

The importance of the third element of crime of attempt is explained in West v. State, 437 So.2d 1212, 1214 (Miss. 1983). West was charged with attempted sexual battery, a crime requiring penetration, so the state would have been required to show an attempt at penetration. Yet the proof was that West merely fondled the victim with no proof of a specific intent or attempt to penetrate. The West court said that, even though the overt act is important,

[t]he attempt statute requires that, before one may be convicted of attempt, he 'shall fail therein, or shall be prevented from committing the same'. The gravamen of this offense of attempt is that the accused have done an overt act . . . and be prevented from its commission. [Emphasis added.].

The *West* court then ruled that the failure is a more important element than the overt act. *Id.* It follows, that the most important element of the offense

purportedly charged against Hawkins, was missing from his indictment.

In at least two prior cases the Mississippi Supreme Court has reversed for a trial court's failure to include "failure or prevention of conclusion" in attempt jury instructions. See *Henderson v. State* 660 So. 2d 220, 222-23 (Miss. 1995) and *Armstead v. State*, 716 So. 2d 576, 583 (Miss.1998). It is axiomatic that the element should be included in attempt indictments.

Not only was Hawkins' indictment fatally defective, it charged a totally different crime altogether. In *Spears v. State*, 942 So.2d 772, 775 (Miss. 2006), the Supreme Court ruled that an indictment worded exactly like the one in this case charges burglary not attempted burglary. This will be addressed further in a subsequent issue.

ISSUE NO. 2: WHETHER HAWKINS WAS ENTITLED TO AN ABANDONMENT JURY INSTRUCTION?

Hawkins requested an abandonment instruction as D-2, but the request was denied. [R. 37].² There is strong legal precedent in support of the appellant's position that the trial court erred in denying this request, as Hawkins was, most

D-2: If you find from the evidence, beyond a reasonable doubt, that Daryl Hawkins freely and voluntarily abandoned his intent to commit the crime of burglary of an automobile before the defendant performed any overt act toward the commission of that crime, and if you further believe there was not an outside cause prompting the abandonment, then you shall find the defendant not guilty. (Refused).[R. 37].

definitely, entitled to a jury instruction on his theory of defense of abandonment.

The case of *Bucklew v. State*, 206 So. 2d 200, 202-04 (Miss. 1968) demonstrates a good case of abandonment. Bucklew was the mayor of Laurel. He was indicted for attempted embezzlement regarding attempting to obtain a city check to pay an automobile repair bill. Bucklew took steps to have the bill approved for payment, but never presented the invoice for the check to actually be issued. The court ruled that there was never any showing of an intent to commit a crime, but if there was, any the criminal intent was abandoned prior to a completion of an unambiguous overt act and the trial court should have granted a directed verdict of acquittal based on abandonment.

In *Hester v. State*, 602 So.2d 869 (Miss. 1992), the defendant was found to be entitled to an abandonment instruction where the defendant was charged and convicted of capital murder involving the armed robbery and shooting of a sailor in Pascagoula by four young men. Hester testified that he tried to abandon the hastily planned robbery. There was testimony however from others that he did not abandon. As in the present case, a proffered jury instruction the defense of abandonment was refused, and the Supreme Court reversed.

There was a factual basis for an abandonment instruction here in Hawkins' case that any criminal intent he allegedly had was abandoned. In the testimony

of Officer Graham, his description of the events was that the car window was broken, Graham called for back-up, and then the alarm sounded. [T. 15]. Also, the co-defendant Brandon James said that he did not hear a car alarm going off until Hawkins got in the car and said "drive". [T. 43]. Hawkins had every opportunity to reach in the car with the broken window and steal something, but he did not.

Criminal defendants are entitled to jury instructions embodying their theories of defense if the same have a factual basis. *Welch v. State*, 566 So.2d 680, 684 (Miss. 1990). Failure to afford the same constitutes reversible error. *Id.*

ISSUE NO. 3: WHETHER THE COURT SHOULD HAVE GRANTED A DIRECTED VERDICT OR A JNOV?

Hawkins' motion for directed verdict should have been sustained and the case should not have gone to the jury. Alternatively, a JNOV should have been granted.

In reviewing a motion for directed verdict which challenges the sufficiency of evidence, "the Court looks to all the evidence before the jurors to determine whether a reasonable, hypothetical juror could find, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the defendant is guilty" of the crime charged in the indictment. *Nichols v.*State 822 So.2d 984, 989 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002).

As stated previously, the indictment in this case charges burglary, not attempted burglary. *Spears v. State*, 942 So.2d 772, 775 (Miss. 2006). Since the state failed to prove burglary, the issue is easy to decide. There was no evidence to support a conviction of burglary.

Alternatively, if the Court finds that an attempted burglary was properly pled, the trial court should, nevertheless, have granted a directed verdict because the state proved nothing more than mere vandalism. There was no evidence of an intent to steal anything.

The offense of attempt "requires the specific intent to commit a particular offense." *Armstead v. State*, 716 So. 2d 576, 583 (Miss. 1998). The state will argue that Hawkins' allegedly looking into the cars was proof of intent to steal. However, that conclusion is somewhat hasty. Hawkins could have left something of his own in a vehicle and was attempting to retrieve it, he could have been seeking some kind of revenge against someone by breaking their car window. The act of looking into car windows does not necessarily lead to a conclusion that the looker intends to steal. He could have been looking in windows for purposes of identifying an intended target of vandalism, for example. Hence, the evidence was ambiguous at best.

As in Bucklew, supra, here in Hawkin's case, there was never any showing

of an intent to commit a theft, but if there was, any specific intent was abandoned prior to a completion of an unambiguous overt act and since the Supreme Court has "held that the law requires that the State establish criminal intent as an element to the crime of attempt 'to commit a crime'", the trial court here should have granted a directed verdict of acquittal. 206 So. 2nd 202-04.

The *Bucklew* court pointed out that "that the defendant's [overt] act must be a direct, unequivocal act toward the commission of the intended crime." 206 So.2d 202-03. Since Hawkins' alleged act of breaking a car window is ambiguous, coupled with his other actions, the trial court should have granted the requested directed verdict.

Alternatively, the court should have granted a new trial or rendered a not guilty verdict. In reviewing a motion for *JNOV*, to determine whether trial evidence is sufficient to sustain a conviction "the critical inquiry is whether the evidence shows 'beyond a reasonable doubt that [the] accused committed the act charged, and that he did so under such circumstances that every element of the offense existed.'" *Bush v. State*, 895 So.2d 836, 843(¶ 16) (Miss. 2005) (quoting *Carr v. State*, 208 So.2d 886, 889 (Miss.1968)). The deciding factor is "whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a

reasonable doubt." *Id*. If the minimum conclusion is reached that, "reasonable fair-minded men in the exercise of impartial judgment might reach different conclusions on every element of the offense," the evidence is sufficient. *Id*.

If the Court follows the decision of *Spears v. State, supra*, and finds that a burglary case was actually charged in this case, once again the decision is easy. No reasonable jury could find the defendant guilty of burglary in this case.

Even if the Court finds the indictment sufficiently charges attempted automobile burglary, the trial court should have nevertheless granted a new trial or an aquittal JNOV. The appellant's position is that the state's purported proof of an overt act is insufficient to have proven any intent to steal, at best the proof of the overt act is ambiguous. See *Bucklew*, *supra*.

In the present case, the best evidence of Hawkins' intent comes from his comments to Brandon James when they were pulling off. See *Armstead*, *supra*. It is the appellant's position that, looking at the state's case in the best possible light, the only crime that was proved was mere vandalism. Going any further is pure speculation.

Recall that in *West v. State, supra,* the defendant was charged with attempted sexual battery which would require an attempt to penetrate. 437 So.2d at 1214. The defendant's offense conduct proved at trial was that he accosted a

young woman and did no more than fondle her and expose himself without any attempt at penetration. The failure to attempt penetration "was not the product of his victim's ... resistance or the intervention of extraneous causes." *Id*.

The West court reversed the attempted sexual battery conviction. "Attempt requires 'design' which, therefore, "contemplates 'intent". The Court said, "[w]hatever West's intent may have been when he originally inveigled his victim into the apartment ... [it had] dissipated by the time he committed his so-called "overt acts" . . . [i]f one walks into a bank with a loaded pistol in his pocket intending to rob the bank and walks up to the teller's window, but then changes his mind, he has not committed the crime of attempted bank robbery." *Id*.

Sometimes it is a defendant's actions, and sometimes it is the defendant's words and actions which give proof of intent. In *Ishee v. State*, 799 So. 2d 70, 73-75 (Miss. 2001) a defendant's specific request for a young boy to perform a sex act coupled with gesturing made it clear, thus unambiguous for the court to see intent.

In the present case, Hawkins' words show no intent to commit an offense and his actions are ambiguous as previously shown.³ A judgement

Brandon said he dropped Hawkins off in the parking lot and then Hawkins got back in the car acting "paranoid" and said, "[d]rive before somebody thinks we're trying to break into something." [T. 43]. As they were driving off, Brandon testified that Daryl said, "I broke the window out of the car, man, we're fixing to go to jail." [T. 46].

notwithstanding the verdict was in order upon request. Appellant respectfully looks to this Court for a remedy.

ISSUE NO. 4: IS HAWKIN'S SENTENCE OF LIFE WITHOUT PAROLE UNCONSTITUTIONALLY DISPROPORTIONATE?

Since Hawkins had three prior convictions, one robbery in 1987 and two burglaries in 1988 occurring one day apart, the indictment in this case, as amended, charged him as an habitual offender under MCA §99-19-83 (1972).

Even though trial counsel requested a proportionality review, and even though the law requires it, the trial court denied Hawkins' request finding a lack of discretion. [T. 100-01]. Hawkins' position is that his life sentence without parole for breaking one car window is unconstitutionally too severe and clearly disproportionate to the offense conduct. U. S. Const. Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments, Miss. Const. Art. 3 § 28.

The United States Supreme Court in *Solem v. Helm*, 463 U.S. 277, 292, 103 S.Ct. 3001, 3011, 77 L.Ed.2d 637 (1983) set out three factors for courts to consider when conducting a proportionality analysis. The criteria are:

- (1) the gravity of the offense and the harshness of the penalty;
- (2) the sentences imposed on other criminals in the same jurisdiction; and
- (3) the sentences imposed for commission of the same crime in other

jurisdictions. In *Solem*, the Court held a life sentence without parole to be unconstitutional for the crime of writing a \$100 bad check on a nonexistent bank account, even though the defendant had been convicted of six prior felonies including three for burglary. *Id*.

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