IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

DARYL HAWKINS

VS.

FLED

APPELLANT

MAR 1 U 2008

OFFICE OF THE GLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

NO. 2004-KA-1204

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: DEIRDRE MCCRORY

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL **POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220** TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The indictment was legally sufficient to charge Hawkins with the crime of attempted burglary of an automobile.

The trial court properly denied Instruction D-2.

The evidence is legally sufficient to sustain the verdict.

Hawkins has failed to present a record to support his claim that his sentence is constitutionally disproportionate.

PROPOSITION ONE:

THE INDICTMENT WAS LEGALLY SUFFICIENT TO CHARGE HAWKINS WITH THE CRIME OF ATTEMPTED BURGLARY OF AN AUTOMOBILE

Hawkins contends first that the indictment returned against him was void for failure to state necessary elements of the offense, specifically, an overt act done toward its commission, and the failure to consummate its commission.

With respect to the first alleged flaw, the state points out that the indictment charged that Hawkins attempted to break and enter the automobile "by breaking out a window." (C.P.1) An "overt act" in this context is "one which manifests the intention to commit the crime." *Duke v. State*, 340 So.2d 727, 730 (Miss.1976). The act must be a direct, unequivocal act toward the commission of the intended crime, and the acts must have

progressed to the extent of giving him power to commit the offense. *Ishee v. State*, 799 So.2d 70, 73 (MIss.2001).

It is more than reasonable to conclude that this act of breaking demonstrated the intention of committing the crime of burglary of an automobile. The state at trial took the position that this act of breaking was an overt act (T.75), and we maintain this position on appeal.

The state acknowledges that an indictment charging an attempted crime must set out an overt act. *Hawthorne v. State*, 751 So.2d 1090, 1092-93 (Miss.App.1999); *Durr v. State*, 446 So.2d 1016, 1017 (Miss.1984). We maintain that the indictment at issue here did exactly that.

Next, Hawkins asserts that the indictment is fatally defective for failing to charge the third element of an attempted crime, i.e., the failure to consummate its commission. Controlling precedent holds that it is not necessary to allege failure to consummate or prevention from consummation.² Ford v. State, 218 So.2d 731, 732 (Miss.1969).

For these reasons, the state respectfully submits Hawkins' first proposition should

²The indictment in this case recited the general attempt statute and thus notified Hawkins that he was charged, *inter alia*, with having failed to consummate the commission of the offense. Moreover, Instruction D-1 required the jury to find "[a] failure to consummate" the commission of the crime in order to find the defendant guilty of attempted automobile burglary. (C.P.3⁶) Contrast *Henderson v. State*, 660 So.2d 220, 222 (Miss.1995)

be denied.

PROPOSITION TWO:

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED INSTRUCTION D-2

Hawkins argues additionally that the trial court committed reversible error in denying Instruction D-2, set out below:

If you find from the evidence, beyond a reasonable doubt, that Daryl Hawkins freely and voluntarily abandoned his intent to commit the crime of burglary of an automobile before the defendant performed any overt act toward the commission of that crime, and if you further believe there was not an outside cause prompting the abandonment, then you shall find the defendant not guilty.

(C.P.37)

When this instruction was tendered, the state objected on the ground of lack of evidentiary basis: "Your Honor, I believe an instruction has to be based on the evidence. And he said he didn't even get out of the car." (T.72) Additionally, the state argued that "the breaking of the window is the act toward the commission of a felony and that the alarm is what says, 'Don't do it." (T.75) Accordingly, the state's position was that the instruction had no evidentiary basis. Ultimately, the instruction was refused. (C.P.37)

The state agrees that a criminal defendant is entitled to a jury instruction embodying his theory of the case *if* such instruction has a basis in the evidence. (Brief for Appellant 10) *Slater v. State*, 731 So.2d 1115, 1118-19 (Miss.1999). The instruction may be denied if there is no evidence which, if believed by the jury, could result in resolution of the issue in favor of the party requesting the instruction. *Dear v. State*, 966 So.2d 218, 219 (Miss.App.2007), citing *Walls v. State*, 672 So.2d 1227, 1230 (Miss.1996). In this case, the court properly found that the evidence did not support this instruction.

First, the defendant testified that he had not exited James' car at all. By his own testimony, "he had no criminal intent to abandon" and thus "had no need for an abandonment instruction." *Slater*, 731 So.2d 1119.³

Furthermore, no rational analysis of the state's evidence would support a reasonable conclusion that Hawkins was entitled to assert the defense of abandonment. That defense is available "if the attempt to commit a crime is freely and voluntarily abandoned before the act is put in process of final execution, if there is no outside cause prompting the abandonment." *Barnes v. State*, 763 So.2d 216, 218 (Miss.App.2000), citing *Bucklew v. State*, 206 So.2d 200, 204 (Miss.1968).

"On the other hand, a voluntary abandonment of an attempt which has proceeded beyond mere preparation will not bar a conviction for the attempt." *Id.*, at 219.

The proof showed that Hawkins went beyond "mere preparation" and committed an overt act toward the commission of the crime. The sounding of the alarm was the "outside cause" prompting him to cease. See *Alexander v. State*, 520 So.2d 127, 130 (Miss. 1988) (evidence supported "the conclusion that appellant's failure to rape the victim was due to her resistance and ability to sound the alarm, rather to any abandonment on appellant's part"). As the prosecutor succinctly argued at trial, "the breaking of the window is the act toward the commission of a felony and that the alarm is what says, 'Don't do it." Under these circumstances, the evidence did not support a rational conclusion that Hawkins

³On this basis, *Hester v. State*, 602 So.2d 869, 873 (Miss.1992), is distinguishable. In *Hester*, the defendant testified that he had tried to abandon the robbery; thus, there was an evidentiary foundation for an abandonment instruction.

abandoned the attempt before the commission of the overt act, unprompted by an outside cause. In any case, he denied that he had approached the subject car at all. For these reasons, the trial court properly denied Instruction D-2.

PROPOSITION THREE:

THE EVIDENCE IS LEGALLY SUFFICIENT TO SUSTAIN THE VERDICT

Hawkins contends additionally that the evidence is legally insufficient to sustain the verdict. To prevail, he must satisfy the following formidable standard of review:

When on appeal one convicted of a criminal offense challenges the legal sufficiency of the evidence, our authority to interfere with the jury's verdict is quite limited. We proceed by considering all of the evidence--not just that supporting the case for the prosecution--in the light most consistent with the verdict. We give [the] prosecution the benefit of all favorable inferences that may reasonably be drawn from the evidence. If the facts and inferences so considered point in favor of the accused with sufficient force that reasonable men could not have found beyond a reasonable doubt that he was guilty. reversal and discharge are required. On the other hand, if there is in the record substantial evidence of such quality and weight that, having in mind the beyond a reasonable doubt burden of proof standard, reasonable and fair-minded jurors in the exercise of impartial judgment might have reached different conclusions, the verdict of guilty is thus placed beyond our authority to disturb.

Manning v. State, 735 So.2d 323, 333 (Miss.1999), quoting McFee v. State, 511 So.2d 130, 133-34 (Miss.1987).

Furthermore.

The jury is charged with the responsibility of weighing and considering conflicting evidence, evaluating the credibility of witnesses, and determining whose testimony should be believed. [citation omitted] The jury has the duty to determine the impeachment value of inconsistencies or contradictions as well as testimonial defects of perception, memory, and sincerity. *Noe v. State*, 616 So.2d 298, 302 (Miss.1993) (citations omitted). "It is not for this Court to pass upon the credibility of witnesses and where evidence justifies the

verdict it must be accepted as having been found worthy of belief." Williams v. State, 427 So.2d 100, 104 (Miss.1983).

(emphasis added) *Ford v. State*, 737 So.2d 424, 425 (Miss.App.1999).

See also *Jackson v. State*, 580 So.2d 1217, 1219 (Miss.1991) (on appellate review the state "is entitled to the benefit of all favorable inferences that may reasonably be drawn from the evidence"), and *Noe*, 616 So.2d at 302 (evidence favorable to the defendant should be disregarded). Accord, *Harris v. State*, 532 So.2d 602, 603 (Miss.1988) (appellate court "should not and cannot usurp the power of the fact-finder/ jury"). "When a defendant challenges the sufficiency of the evidence to support a conviction, the evidence which supports the verdict is accepted as true by the reviewing court, and the State is given the benefit of all reasonable inferences flowing from the evidence." *Dumas v. State*, 806 So.2d 1009, 1011 (Miss.2000).

Having presented evidence after his motion for directed verdict was overruled, the defendant was obligated to renew his challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence. He did so through his motion for a peremptory instruction accompanied by this argument:

We would also like to make an [sic] motion right now for a peremptory instruction made on the law of abandonment, basing that there's no evidence that's been presented not even from my client regarding relinquishment, the abandonment, and the attempt to commit a crime.

 $(T.69)^4$

⁴The court observed, "When your client denies that he did it all together, that kind of throws the abandonment in a little different twist." (T.69-70)

Hawkins is limited on appeal to the argument of these specific points.⁵ All challenges not specifically raised below are procedurally barred. *Edwards v. State*, 797 So.2d 1049, 1056 (Miss. App. 2001).

Hawkins first cites *Spears v. State*, 942 So.2d 772, 775 (Miss.2006), for the proposition that the indictment charged him with burglary rather than attempted burglary, and that the state failed to prove him guilty of burglary. This argument was not raised below and is procedurally barred. Alternatively, the state contends the indictment at issue in *Spears* did not cite the attempt statute, MISS.CODE ANN. § 97-1-7 (1972). The indictment returned against Hawkins does not suffer from such ambiguity; it cites the attempt statute at the top of the first page. (C.P.1)

Additionally, Hawkins asserts that the state failed to prove intent to steal. Again, the state counters that this argument is unpreserved. Alternatively, we submit the proof and the reasonable inferences therefrom support the court's submission of this case to the jury and refusal to disturb its verdict. "Intent is a state of mind seldom susceptible of direct proof absent a confession." *Harrison v. State*, 722 So.2d 681, 685 (Miss.1998), quoting *Williams v. State*, 512 So.2d 666, 669 (Miss.1987). It "may be inferred from the time and manner in which entry was made and the conduct of the accused after entry," *Id.*; otherwise, "the burglar caught without boot might escape the penalties of the law." *Cortez v. State*, 876 So.2d 1026, 1030 (Miss.App.2003), citing *Dixon v. State*, 240 So.2d 289, 290 (Miss.1970). Accord, *Brown v. State*, 799 So.2d 870, 872 (Miss.2001).

⁵Hawkins' motion for j.n.o.v. added no more specific challenges to the sufficiency of the evidence. (C.P.50)

The proof and the reasonable inferences therefrom showed that the defendant entered a parking lot late at night, cased two other cars before looking into the victim's car and breaking the window, and fled after the alarm sounded. From this evidence a rational juror could infer an intent to steal. Hawkins' argument to the contrary goes to the weight rather than sufficiency of the evidence, which was properly evaluated by the jury.

In light of this analysis, the state respectfully submits Hawkins' third proposition should be denied.

PROPOSITION FOUR:

HAWKINS HAS FAILED TO PRESENT A RECORD TO SUPPORT HIS CLAIM THAT HIS SENTENCE IS CONSTITUTIONALLY DISPROPORTIONATE

At the sentencing hearing, the state proved that Hawkins was an habitual offender within the meaning of MISS.CODE ANN. § 99-19-83 (1972) (as amended). (T.95-100) After the state concluded its case on sentencing, the court asked, "Anything from the defense?" Defense counsel answered, "We have no witnesses to present at this time as to the sentencing hearing." (T.100) The defense went on to argue the following:

[W]e would ask the Court to consider the proportionality of the sentence under the Eighth Amendment under **Solem versus Helm**, in that in this case the facts as presented was [sic] that Mr. Hawkins attempted to break into a car. We feel, based on the proportionality of the sentence, that life without parole is too extreme in this case, and we would ask the Court to consider that ... in it's [sic] decision. I understand, based on the case law in this State, that the Court has no discretion regarding sentencing, except if we ... ask for a proportionality of sentence to the crime. That's what we're doing at this time.

(T.100-01)

The court held that it had "no discretion in this matter" and sentenced Hawkins to life imprisonment without possibility of parole. (T.101)

The backdrop for the disposition of Hawkins' final argument is set out below:

"[T]he general rule in Mississippi is that a sentence that does not exceed the maximum term allowed by the statute, cannot be disturbed on appeal." *Edwards v. State*, 800 So.2d 454, 468 (Miss.2001) (citing *Fleming v. State*, 604 So.2d 280, 302 (Miss.1992)). This Court "will review a sentence that allegedly imposed a penalty that is disproportionate to the crime." Id.

In *Edwards*, this Court discussed the proportionality analysis as laid out by the United States Supreme Court:

The United States Supreme Court set forth a three-prong test for an Eighth Amendment proportionality analysis in *Solem* as follows:

- (i) the gravity of the offense and the harshness of the penalty;
- (ii) the sentence imposed on other criminals in the same jurisdiction; and
- (iii) the sentences imposed for commission of the same crime in other jurisdictions.

This Court noted, however, that Solem was overruled in Harmelin v. Michigan, 501 U.S. 957, 965-66, 111 S.Ct. 2680, 2686-87, 115 L.Ed.2d 836 (1991) "to the extent that it found a guarantee of proportionality in the Eighth Amendment. In light of Harmelin, it appears that Solem is to apply only when a threshold comparison of the crime committed to the sentence imposed leads to an inference of 'gross disproportionality.' " Hoops v. State, 681 So.2d at 538 (citations omitted). The appellate courts will not apply the three-prong disproportionality test when there is a lack of this initial showing. [citations omitted]

(emphasis added) *Sumrell v. State*, 972 So.2d 572, 576 (Miss. 2008)

During the sentencing hearing, Hawkins failed to make a threshold showing that a comparison of the crime committed to the sentence imposed led to an inference of gross

disproportionality.⁶ Absent such a showing, he cannot be heard to advance a *Solem* analysis for the first time on appeal. There simply is nothing for this Court to review on this point. See also *Wallace v. State*, 607 So.2d 1184, 1189 (Miss.1992). In light of *Sumrell* and the authorities cited therein, Hawkins' final proposition should be rejected.

CONCLUSION:

For the reasons set out above, the state respectfully submits the judgment entered below should be affirmed.